IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 25-68

**SCA EFiled: Mar 31 2025
12:41PM EDT
Transaction ID 75968003**

County Commission of Fayette County,
Petitioner

v.)

Pardee and Curtin Realty LLC,
Respondent

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

On Order of Certification entered in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
West Virginia on January 22, 2025, Civil Action No. 2:21-cv-00307

**ANTHONY CILIBERTI, JR., ESQ.
FAYETTE COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY**

By: Michael O. Callaghan, Esq.
Chief Assistant Fayette Co. Prosecuting Attorney
WV Bar No. 5509
c/o NEELY & CALLAGHAN
1337 Virginia Street East, Suite 200
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 343-6500

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA
DOCKET NO. 25-68

County Commission of Fayette County,
Petitioner

v.)

Pardee and Curtin Realty LLC,
Respondent

OPENING BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner, County Commission of Fayette County, West Virginia, *ex rel.* Anthony Ciliberti, Jr., Esq., Fayette Co. Prosecuting Attorney (“Governmental Plaintiff”), by counsel, hereby submits this brief On Order of Certification entered in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia on January 22, 2025, Civil Action No. 2:21-cv-00307. The United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia certified to this Court the following question of law: “Is a West Virginia political subdivision that brings a “Citizen Suit” under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6972, entitled to prosecutorial immunity from being assessed a prevailing opponent’s attorney fees and costs?” For the reasons that follow, this Court should answer this question in the affirmative.

I. BACKGROUND:

The federal case from which the question was certified, *County Commission of Fayette Co., WV, ex rel. Anthony Ciliberti, Esq., Fayette Co. Prosecuting Attorney v. National Grid NE Holdings 2, LLC, et al.*, Case No. 2:21-cv-00307 (S.D. WV) (Johnston, C.J.), is a remedial

environmental case in which the Governmental Plaintiff, the County Commission of Fayette County, West Virginia, represented by the Fayette Co. Prosecuting¹ Attorney, who also served as the Governmental Plaintiff's Relator, sought judicial abatement of the conditions existing at, and the alleged, toxic "Solid Waste" and Acid Mine Drainage-contaminated Leachate that has been and is continuing to be released into the public environment from, five (5) unlined and unpermitted coal refuse piles, commonly referred to as "Gob Piles²," in the Johnson Fork-Loop Creek watershed located wholly within Fayette County, West Virginia.

Amongst other claims, the Governmental Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") asserts a "Citizen Suit" claim under the "Imminent & Substantial Endangerment" Abatement provisions of RCRA § 7002(A)(1)(b), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B)³, against several defendant

¹ W. Va. Code § 7-4-1 [“**Duties of the Prosecuting Attorney**”] provides, in relevant part:

(a) The prosecuting attorney shall attend to the criminal business of the state in the county in which he or she is elected and qualified . . . **The prosecuting attorney shall also . . advise, attend to, bring, prosecute, or defend, as the case may be, all matters, actions, suits, and proceedings in which such county or any county board of education is interested.**

[Bolding emphasis added].

² "Gob" is an acronym for "garbage of bituminous." *Va. Elc. & Power Co. v. Bransen Energy, Inc.*, 850 F.3d 645, 651 (4th Cir. VA 2017). "Gob piles are piles of waste comprised of coal mixed with mining byproducts." (*Id.*).

³ RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) provides:

(a) **In general.** Except as provided in subsection (b) or (c) of this section, any person may commence a civil action on his own behalf—

(1)

*** *** *** ***

(B) against any person, including the United States and any other governmental instrumentality or agency, to the extent permitted by the eleventh amendment to the Constitution, and including any past or present generator, past or present transporter, or past or present owner or operator of a treatment, storage, or disposal facility, who has contributed or who is contributing to the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment;

entities alleged to have contributed to “the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment” at the 5 Gob Pile sites within the meaning of that federal statute. For relief, the Governmental Plaintiff’s SAC seeks:

an Order of this Court requiring each of the **Remedial Defendants**, jointly and severally, and subject to appropriate oversight and monitoring by the Fayette Co. Code Enforcement Agency: **(a)** to undertake at their sole cost a Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study (“**RI/FS**”) of the **Subject Property** and the **Subject Watershed** in full compliance with the applicable requirements of the **NCP**, **(b)** timely and competently to implement at their sole cost such immediate or interim removal or remedial actions as the Court may determine to be necessary and proper to appropriate abatement of any **Public Nuisance** condition(s) or imminent and substantial endangerments to health or the **Environment** within the **Subject Watershed**; **(c)** following filing of the required final **RI/FS** report with this Court, and after conduct of such hearings as the Court determines to be appropriate, to timely and competently implement at their sole cost the **Remedial Action** Plan, if any, for the **Subject Watershed** selected and approved by the Court; and **(d)** periodically and timely to reimburse the **Governmental Plaintiff** for the **Abatement Action Costs** it has incurred in overseeing and monitoring the Defendants’ performance of the **Abatement Action** ordered by this Court;

Section **VI.B** [“**Prayer for Relief**”] of the Governmental Plaintiff’s SAC [bolding in original]. JA 185. The Governmental Plaintiff also sought, pursuant to the provisions of RCRA § 7002(e), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(e)⁴, recovery of its “costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees)” incurred in bringing its RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) claim before the Court.

42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B) [bolding in original].

⁴ RCRA § 7002(e) provides:

(e) Costs. The court, in issuing any final order in any action brought pursuant to this section or section 7006, may award costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) to the prevailing or substantially prevailing party, whenever the court determines such an award is appropriate. The court may, if a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction is sought, require the filing of a bond or equivalent security in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

42 U.S.C. § 6972(e) [bolding in original].

The Governmental Plaintiff's SAC names owners of surface rights appertaining to the real property upon which the five (5) Gob Piles are located as "remedial defendants." Defendant Pardee and Curtin Realty LCC ("Pardee") is named as a defendant upon the County's allegation that Pardee owned surface property that included the coal refuse piles from 2003 to 2013. According to the County, Defendant Pardee failed to remediate the refuse during its period of ownership of the surface rights at those sites as is clearly required by applicable W. Va. Law⁵ of any owner of the real property on which such an unpermitted and illegal "Open Dump" of mining waste is located and was, therefore, liable under RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) as a "past owner or operator of a disposal facility, who contributed to the past or present handling or disposal of a solid or hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment" within the meaning of that section of federal law.

However, Pardee disputed having any ownership interest in the real property upon which the Gob Piles are located. According to Pardee, when it took ownership of surrounding land under a 2003 Deed recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the Fayette Co. Commission, that source deed excepted and reserved certain tracts of real property that encompassed each of the five (5) Gob Piles sites within the Johnson Fork – Loop Creek Watershed. With respect to that 2003 Deed, it contained the following language: "Grantor EXCEPTS and RESERVES the surface and timber only of real property depicted on Exhibits C-1 to C-8 attached hereto (the 'Reserved Surface Tracts').". However, the very next sentence of the deed provides "Grantor and Grantee agree to obtain surveys or otherwise develop mutually acceptable metes and bounds descriptions of each Reserved Surface Tract within 90 days after the date hereof, and to execute and deliver a corrected Deed reflecting such description." No such 'corrective Deed' was ever filed, and therefore the

⁵ See: Sections 1.6 and 7.2 of the W. Va. Solid Waste Management Rule, W. Va. C.S.R. § 33-1-1.6 and 7.2.

County asserted that the expressed condition for the reservation was never completed. Further, the County asserted that the purported reservation of the “Reserved Surface Tracts” solely by hand-drawn circles on a contour map attached to the 2003 Deed was inadequately defined. According to the County, the reservation in the Deed that purported to exempt from the conveyance of real property otherwise effected by the 2003 deed all of the “Reserved Surface Tracts,” had no legal force or effect because it failed to meet the “Definiteness” requirement of W. Va. Real Property law, and, accordingly, the areas contained in the purportedly exempted tracts of real property were, in fact and at law, transferred to Defendant Pardee. The District Court found the County’s contentions against Pardee to be without merit under West Virginia law and granted summary judgment in Pardee’s favor on the County’s RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) claims against it.

Following the granting of its motion for summary judgment on the County’s RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) claim against it, Defendant Pardee moved for an award of its fees and costs as a prevailing defendant pursuant to RCRA § 7002(e), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(e). In order to avoid adversely impacting on the clear congressional goal of encouraging enforcement of RCRA’s provisions by state and local governments and private parties, applicable federal law limits the authority of the United States District Courts award fees and costs to a prevailing defendant to those circumstances where the “the plaintiff’s action was frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation,” or if the plaintiff “continued to litigate after it clearly became so.” *Christiansburg Garment Co. v. EEOC*, 434 U.S. 412, at 421-22 (1978). Defendant Pardee contends that happened here, and requests an award of \$225,498.36 of attorney’s fees, expert witness fees, and costs Pardee incurred as a result of the County’s prosecution of its remedial environmental and public health protection claim under RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B) against Defendant Pardee.

In opposition, the County argues that the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code, Chapter 29, Article 12A, immunizes political subdivisions from liability

stemming from “judicial, quasi-judicial or prosecutorial functions.” W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(2)⁶. The County contends that “at all times, this case was prosecuted by Anthony Ciliberti, Esq, Fayette County Prosecuting Attorney, Relator, by duly-appointed Assistant Fayette County Prosecuting Attorneys performing prosecutorial functions.” Moreover, the County has asserted that pursuant to W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(8) political subdivisions are immune from “other fees or charges imposed by law.” Pardee disputes that this case arises out of the County’s prosecutorial functions and argues that the County is estopped from asserting immunity.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT:

a. The Governmental Plaintiff, the County Commission of Fayette County, and Its Relator, the Fayette Co. Prosecuting Attorney, Have Prosecutorial Immunity.

The question certified is whether the Governmental Plaintiff herein is entitled to prosecutorial immunity. As this Court has recognized, “[i]mmunity law can be difficult to understand under the best of circumstances, as it involves three separate and distinct legal analyses which apply to claims against three separate and distinct categories of entities and individuals.” *launija v Sullivan*, 249 W. Va. 747, *751; 901 S.E.2d 500, **504; 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 204, ***9 (2024). This Court established a two-step analysis for addressing immunity claims: **1)** categorize the party claiming immunity; and **2)** determine whether the party is entitled to immunity under the facts and circumstances presented. *Id.*

⁶ W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5 [“**Immunities from Liability**”] provides, in relevant part:

(a) A political subdivision is immune from liability if a loss or claim results from:

*** *** *** ***

(2) Judicial, quasi-judicial or prosecutorial functions;

*** *** *** ***

(5) Civil disobedience, riot, insurrection or rebellion or the failure to provide, or the method of providing, police, law enforcement or fire protection.

With respect to the first prong:

The first step is to properly categorize the party claiming immunity. In this regard, there are three sources of immunity in our jurisprudence: constitutional or "sovereign" immunity, common law "qualified immunity," and statutory immunity as set forth in the Tort Claims Act. It is well established that claims for both constitutional and common law qualified immunity are available only for the State, its agencies, officials, and/or employees. See W. Va. Const. art. VI, § 35; see also A.B., 234 W. Va. at 502; 766 S.E.2d at 761 ("In West Virginia, however, the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, West Virginia Code § 29-12A-1 *et seq.*, is limited to political subdivisions and their employees and does not cover claims made against the State or its agencies.");

Id. In this case, the Governmental Plaintiff's Relator, the Fayette County Prosecuting Attorney, is an instrumentality of the State of West Virginia representing the political subdivision Fayette County Commission (authority for representation is set forth in Footnote 1.) which is covered by the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, West Virginia Code § 29-12A-1 *et seq.*

The Governmental Plaintiff's Relator, acting as an Officer of the State and County Governments, has absolute prosecutorial immunity. This Court has frequently held that absolute prosecutorial immunity attaches to protect prosecutors from civil liability that otherwise would often arise by virtue of the functions they perform for the State. Public Prosecutors enjoy absolute immunity from civil liability for prosecutorial functions such as initiating and pursuing a criminal prosecution, presenting a case at trial, and other conduct that is intricately associated with the judicial process. And absolute prosecutorial immunity cannot be defeated by showing that the prosecutor acted wrongfully or even maliciously. *Launi v. Hampshire Cty. Prosecuting Attorney's Off.*, 2023 W. Va. LEXIS 457, *1, 249 W. Va. 262, 265, 895 S.E.2d 117, 120 (2023). While this is a Governmental civil Public Nuisance abatement case, the Fayette County Prosecuting Attorney presented this case in the United States District Court and litigated it in the judicial process.

Regarding common law prosecutorial immunity, the following has been stated by this Court:

Prosecutors enjoy absolute immunity from civil liability for prosecutorial functions such as, initiating and pursuing a criminal prosecution, presenting a case at trial, and other conduct that is intricately associated with the judicial process. . . . It has been said that absolute prosecutorial immunity cannot be defeated by showing that the prosecutor acted wrongfully or even maliciously, or because the criminal defendant ultimately prevailed on appeal or in a habeas corpus proceeding.

The absolute immunity afforded to prosecutors attaches to the functions they perform, and not merely to the office. Therefore, it has been recognized that a prosecutor is entitled only to qualified immunity when performing actions in an investigatory or administrative capacity. Franklin D. Cleckley, *et al.*, *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, § 8(c), at 213 (3d ed. 2008). *See Imbler v. Pachtman*, 424 U.S. 409, 96 S.Ct. 984, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128 (1976) (extending absolute immunity to prosecutors from civil rights claims);

Mooney v. Frazier, 225 W. Va. 358, 370 Footnote 12, 693 S.E. 2d 333, 345, 2010 W. Va. LEXIS 21, *36-40. This Court has repeatedly recognized that Prosecuting Attorneys in W. Va. are Executive Officers of State of West Virginia as well as Executive Officers of the County in which they are elected. *See: State ex rel. Games-Neely v. Sanders*, 220 W. Va. 230 (2006), *State ex rel. Ginsberg v. Naum*, 173 W. Va. 510, 512, 318 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1984) ("a prosecutor, *as part of the executive department*, must enforce . . . criminal laws." (emphasis added) (citing *State ex rel. Hamstead v. Dostert*, 173 W. Va. 133, 313 S.E.2d 409 (1984))); Syl. pt. 7, *State ex rel. Skinner v. Dostert*, 166 W. Va. 743, 278 S.E.2d 624 (1981) ("The prosecutor, *like any other executive officer*, must have sound reasons for his actions." (emphasis added)); *State ex rel. Miller v. Smith*, 168 W. Va. 745, 755-56, 285 S.E.2d 500, 506 (1981) ("Prosecuting attorneys are executive officers, *see W. Va. Const. art. VII, § 1; Code 5-3-2* (1979 Replacement Vol.), § 7-4-1," (footnote omitted)). While these holdings by this Court have generally been made in the context of the enforcement of

the criminal law of this State, both the U.S. Supreme Court⁷ and this Court⁸ have recognized the very close relationship between the criminal law and the authority of designated Governmental Agencies and Public Prosecutors to investigate and prosecute the abatement of Public Nuisances within their jurisdiction. Thus, the Fayette Co. Prosecuting Attorney, acting pursuant to statutory authority⁹ as the Governmental Plaintiff's Relator and Lead Trial Counsel, has absolute prosecutorial immunity under W. Va. common law.

The County Commission of Fayette County likewise has immunity, but by statute. The West Virginia Legislature enacted The Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act (the "Act") in 1986. W. Va Code §29-12A-1 *et. seq.* Its purposes are to limit liability of political subdivisions and provide immunity to political subdivisions in certain instances and to regulate the costs and coverage of insurance available to political subdivisions for such liability. W. Va Code §29-12A-1. The Act does not grant blanket immunity to political subdivisions. Rather, it

⁷ Recognizing the historic and continuing close legal relationship between the public policies involved in the enforcement of the criminal law and those that attend Public Prosecutions to abate Public Nuisances, the U.S. Supreme Court, in its seminal decision in *Huffman v. Pursue, Ltd.*, 420 U.S. 592; 95 S. Ct. 1200; 43 L. Ed. 2d 482 (1975), extended the federal *Younger Abstention Doctrine* (that had previously been applied only to state criminal cases) to protect against federal injunctive proceedings that could improperly interfere with Public Civil Prosecutions of Public Nuisance abatement case.

⁸ When considering matters involving the abatement of Public Nuisances under W. Va. law, this Court has consistently recognized that "Ordinarily, a suit to abate a public nuisance cannot be maintained by an individual in his private capacity, **as it is the duty of the proper public officials to vindicate the rights of the public.**" *Sharon Steel v. Fairmont*, 175 W. Va. 479 (1985) (citing to *Hark v. Mountain Fork Lumber Co.*, 127 W. Va. 586 (1945) and to the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 821B(1)). More recently, this same recognition of the very close relationship between the Public Policies involved in criminal prosecutions and those involved in Public Prosecutions of Public Nuisance abatement matters led this Court to hold in *State ex rel. Discover Fin. Servs. v. Nibert*, 231 W. Va. 227 (2013) that when state or local governments retain private counsel on a part-time basis to assist full-time Public Prosecutors in Public Nuisance Abatement matters those private counsel must be duly appointed and confirmed as sworn Asst. Prosecuting Attorney and their conduct (including prosecution and settlement) of Public Nuisance Abatement cases supervised by full-time Public Prosecutors.

⁹ W. Va. Code § 7-4-1.

establishes numerous situations when political subdivisions are subject to liability. W. Va. Code § 29-12A-4. Further, the Act provides that political subdivisions may be held liable for damages when liability is expressly imposed upon the political subdivision by a provision of the West Virginia Code. §29-12A-4(c)(5). However, “[l]iability shall not be construed to exist ... because of a general authorization that a political subdivision may sue and be sued.” *Id.*

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