IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 25-68

SCA EFiled: Apr 30 2025
12:35PM EDT
Transaction ID 76181090

THE COUNTY COMMISSION OF FAYETTE COUNTY

Petitioner, Plaintiff in Underlying Action.

v.

PARDEE AND CURTIN REALTY LLC,

Respondent, Defendant in Underlying Action.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PARDEE AND CURTIN REALTY LLC

On Order of Certification dated January 22, 2025
in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia
(The Honorable Thomas E. Johnston)

J. Mark Adkins (WVSB #7414)
William M. Lorensen (WVSB #13223)
BOWLES RICE LLP
600 Quarrier St.
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 347-1100
madkins@bowlesrice.com
wllorensen@bowlesrice.com

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

The Certified Question should be answered “no” under these same principles.¹ A West Virginia political subdivision that brings a RCRA citizen suit waives any immunity it may enjoy with respect to the adjudication of the claim—including the assessment of a prevailing opponent’s attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. § 6972(e). RCRA’s fee-shifting provision goes both ways—and a prevailing government plaintiff would be entitled to request its own attorney fees and costs if the facts were different. Indeed, in the underlying operative pleading, the County demanded an award of its own attorney fees and costs from Pardee under this same RCRA provision. (JA188-189.) By bringing a lawsuit, a plaintiff subjects itself to how a claim is adjudicated under the terms of the governing statute—not by “selective” attempts to invoke immunity to secure “litigation advantages.” *Lapides*, 535 U.S. at 620.

2. *Public policy and judicial economy support waiver.*

Urging a “yes” to the Certified Question, the County asks this Court to immunize political subdivisions from the statutory consequences of their voluntary litigation conduct—consequences

¹ The above-cited cases generally pertain to a State’s Eleventh Amendment immunity, not a political subdivision’s immunity under the Tort Claims Act. But that makes no difference for waiver purposes. “[A]ll rights”—“whether secured by contract, conferred by statute, or guaranteed by the constitution”—can be waived. *Smith*, 129 W. Va. at 760.

that exist for every other litigant. Doing so would grant West Virginia political subdivisions perverse litigation advantages and incentives.

Under RCRA's citizen suit provision, courts only assess fees against a losing plaintiff when the "action was frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation" or the plaintiff "continued to litigate after it clearly became so." *Abdelhalim*, 90 F.4th at 272, 274 (internal quotation omitted). No public policy supports immunizing a party from statutory consequences of frivolous lawsuits. Indeed, potential exposure to an attorney fee award is an "important and well-recognized tool used to restrain the behavior of parties during litigation"—and, in that regard, governments are treated "as any other litigant." *Hutto v. Finney*, 437 U.S. 678, 696 at n.24 (1978); *see infra* at Argument B. Immunizing West Virginia political subdivisions from attorney fee awards only shifts the costs of frivolous lawsuits to the defense and the court system—thwarting Congress's goal of "protect[ing] defendants from burdensome lawsuits having no legal or factual basis" and "deter[ring]" plaintiffs from filing and maintaining them. *Great Steaks*, 667 F.3d at 517.

If anything, government plaintiffs are held to a higher standard of litigation conduct than private plaintiffs (particularly unsophisticated ones). Government bodies have the unique ability to "exact . . . high costs on a private [entity] throughout the investigative process and potential subsequent litigation." *EEOC v. Propak Logistics, Inc.*, 746 F.3d 145, 156 (4th Cir. 2014) (Wilkinson, J., concurring). Likewise, a plaintiff that chooses to "dedicat[e itself] to litigation" (like a government that brings a citizen suit) has a "higher duty to conduct a proper and reasonable pre-suit filing inquiry" than an individual and personally aggrieved plaintiff. *Goldstein v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 322 F. Supp. 2d 660, 665-66 (E.D. Va. 2004).

The County tries to spin the public policy in the opposite direction by claiming that exposure to attorney fees would carry a "chilling effect" that "would hinder the ability of

government entities to fulfill their public role.” (Br. at 15-16.) Not so: a political subdivision facing potential fee exposure under the scenario contemplated by the Certified Question has brought a frivolous RCRA citizen suit. “When a court imposes fees on a plaintiff who has pressed a frivolous claim, it chills nothing that is worth encouraging.” *Hutchison v. Staton*, 994 F.2d 1076, 1081 (4th Cir. 1993).

Moreover, an award of fees to a prevailing defendant is discretionary. Any losing RCRA plaintiff—political subdivision or not—can dispute a prevailing defendant’s entitlement to fees by citing facts and law that justify the underlying litigation conduct. *See Hunt*, 166 F. App’x at 671 (unpublished). Fees are not awarded “simply because [the plaintiff] did not prevail,” but rather because the “action was frivolous” or the plaintiff “continued to litigate” after it became clear. *Abdelhalim*, 90 F.4th at 272, 274. As such, the County’s “chilling effect” argument is better directed to trial courts that are tasked with carefully analyzing the circumstances before entering an actual award of attorney fees in favor of a prevailing defendant. But here, the County seeks a blanket immunity from the statutory consequence of bringing and maintaining a baseless lawsuit. The County does not (and cannot) offer a real public policy reason in support of its proposed answer to the Certified Question.

The County also contends that answering “no” to the Certified Question will “motivate[]” private plaintiffs “to pursue cases against public agencies”— “[o]pening the floodgates” for a “rise in litigation designed to exploit the government’s financial vulnerabilities.” (Br. at 15-18.) This parade of horribles ignores that West Virginia political subdivisions are already subject to attorney fee awards when statute affords them, regardless of how this Court answers the Certified Question. *See infra* at 12 (citing examples). Moreover, the County’s claim mischaracterizes the Certified Question yet again. Because the Certified Question presumes a *plaintiff* government, there is no

answer to the question that would incentivize private parties to “pursue cases against public agencies.” (Br. at 16.) Properly understood, the Certified Question only effectuates a statutory deterrent against frivolous lawsuits and ensures that it applies to all parties, regardless of governmental status.

At bottom, a political subdivision that brings a RCRA citizen suit waives any claim to immunity it may enjoy with respect to the adjudication of the claim—and there is no public policy that supports immunizing political subdivisions from statutory consequences of frivolous litigation conduct. The Certified Question should be answered “no” on waiver grounds.

B The Tort Claims Act does not grant immunity from attorney fee awards.

In a series of decisions in the 1970s and early 1980s, this Court abolished common law immunity for West Virginia political subdivisions. *See, e.g.*, Syl. Pt. 10, *Long v. City of Weirton*, 158 W. Va. 741 (1975) (municipalities); Syl. Pt. 2, *Gooden v. County Comm'n of Webster Cnty.*, 171 W. Va. 130 (1982) (county commissions); *Ohio Valley Contractors v. Bd. of Educ.*, 170 W. Va. 240 (1982) (county boards of education). After all, political subdivisions are creatures of statute and enjoy only the rights and immunities granted by the Legislature. Syl. Pt. 3, *T. Weston, Inc. v. Mineral Cnty.*, 219 W. Va. 564 (2006) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Barbor v. Cnty. Ct. of Mercer Cnty.*, 85 W. Va. 359 (1920)). This Court noted that “it would seem preferable for the Legislature” act on the question of immunity for political subdivisions. *Long*, 158 W. Va. at 783.

In 1986, the Legislature did so by enacting the Tort Claims Act. The enactment of the Tort Claims Act also coincided with the insurance crisis of the mid-1980s. The Legislature found that “political subdivisions of this state are unable to procure adequate liability insurance coverage at reasonable cost due to [t]he high cost in defending such claims, the risk of liability beyond the affordable coverage, and the inability of political subdivisions to raise sufficient revenues for the procurement of such coverage.” W. Va. Code § 29-12A-2. The Tort Claims Act is therefore not a

grant of absolute immunity to political subdivisions: rather, the Legislature chose to confer immunity only “in certain circumstances” and primarily to “regulate the costs and coverage of insurance.” W. Va. Code § 29-12A-1.

Given the underlying purposes of the Tort Claims Act, West Virginia courts apply a “general rule of construction” that narrowly reads the immunities conferred by the Act. Syl. Pt. 2, *Marlin v. Bill Rich Const. Inc.*, 198 W. Va. 635 (1996). Courts construe the Tort Claims Act to “favor[] liability, not immunity.” *Id.* In fact, courts will not recognize immunity for a West Virginia political subdivision “unless the legislature has clearly provided [it] under the circumstances.” *Id.*²

The Tort Claims Act does not expressly grant immunity from attorney fee awards. In fact, the Act does not mention attorney fees at all. Instead, the Act grants political subdivisions certain immunities from monetary damages. W. Va. Code § 29-12A-4(b)(1) (damages in a civil action); W. Va. Code § 29-12A-7(a)-(b) (punitive and economic loss damages). In particular, section 4 of the Act provides that political subdivisions are “liable in damages in a civil action” “[s]ubject to” the immunities identified in section 5 and 6—which, in turn, confer immunity for losses and claims arising from certain circumstances, including a political subdivision’s “prosecutorial functions.” W. Va. Code § 29-12A-4(b)-(c); W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(2).

Attorney fee awards are not “damages in a civil action.” *See Roman Realty, LLC v. City of Morgantown*, Appeal No. 22-587, 2024 WL 2946675, *6 (June 11, 2024) (distinguishing “a remedy in a cause of action” from attorney fee awards reflecting “a penalty that is assessed because of the dilatory conduct of a party”). The law has long recognized that government litigants may be assessed attorney fees and court costs despite enjoying certain immunities from money

² The County urges this Court to construe the Tort Claims Act “broadly” in favor of immunity. (Br. at 15.) The County cites no authority for that rule of construction, and doing so would conflict with precedent.

damages. Almost a century ago, the Supreme Court of the United States noted that “[f]or many years” government bodies had been assessed court costs despite occasional pleas for immunity. *Fairmont Creamery Co. v. State of Minnesota*, 275 U.S. 70 (1927). The Supreme Court more recently described fee awards against government officials as “run-of-the-mill occurrences” in federal court. *Supreme Ct. of Va. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc.*, 446 U.S. 719, 738-39 (1980); *Fitzpatrick v. Bitzer*, 427 U.S. 445 (1976).

Fee awards against government entities and officials are “run-of-the-mill occurrences” in West Virginia state court, too. This Court has often affirmed attorney fee awards against county commissions, municipalities, other political subdivisions, and the state itself. *Corp. of Harpers Ferry v. Taylor*, 227 W. Va. 501 (2011) (municipality); *Alden v. Harpers Ferry Police Civil Serv. Comm’n*, 219 W. Va. 67 (2006) (municipality); *Phillip Leon M. v. Greenbrier Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 199 W. Va. 400 (1996) (board of education); *W. Va. Educ. Ass’n v. Consol. Public Ret. Bd.*, 194 W. Va. 501 (1995) (state); *State ex rel. Chafin v. Mingo Cnty. Comm’n*, 189 W. Va. 680 (1993) (county commission); *Meek v. Pugh*, 186 W. Va. 609 (1991); *Richardson v. Town of Kimball*, 176 W. Va. 24 (1986) (municipality). Ultimately, attorney fee awards are “an important and well-recognized tool used to restrain the behavior of parties during litigation.” *Hutto v. Finney*, 437 U.S. 678, 695 at n.24 (1978). So, for purposes of assessing attorney fees, governments are treated “as any other litigant.” *Id.* at 696. This is particularly true for “the power to award attorney’s fees for *litigating in bad faith*,” *id.* (emphasis added), like fee exposure contemplated here.

Neither party cites a single example of a government enjoying prosecutorial immunity from an award of attorney fees. Pardee is only aware of one other case where a government even tried. In that case, the United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee rejected the claim to immunity for reasons that the Court found “obvious”—namely, that “an application for

attorney’s fees is not an action for money damages.” *American Civil Liberties Union of Tennessee v. State of Tennessee*, 502 F. Supp. 388, 390 (M.D. Tn. 1980). The Court concluded that “a prosecutor’s immunity from suits for money damages is ***completely irrelevant*** in determining whether his office should be required to pay attorney’s fees when it loses a lawsuit.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The County claims an immunity that is unlike any immunity recognized by this Court. This Court has recognized prosecutorial immunity from monetary damages in connection with a host of civil claims against prosecutors, their office, and political subdivisions. *See, e.g., Launi v. Hampshire Cnty. Prosecuting Att’y Office*, 249 W. Va. 262 (2023) (immunity from malicious prosecution claim against prosecutor); *Mooney v. Frazier*, 225 W. Va. 358 (immunity from legal malpractice claim against prosecutor); *Hylton v. Bennett*, No. 12-0194, 2012 WL 5834621 (Tort Claims Act immunity from malicious prosecution claim against county commission). In other words, prosecutors enjoy immunity from *tort claims*, like the name of the Act suggests. To Pardee’s knowledge, this Court has never found a government immune from an award of a prevailing adversary’s attorney fees (under prosecutorial or any other immunity).

The kind of immunity the County seeks here serves none of the underlying purposes of the Tort Claims Act, either. The purpose of the Act is to manage the cost of defense and the cost of insurance premiums. The Certified Question’s contemplated scenario—a political subdivision bringing a frivolous RCRA citizen suit and then facing assessment of a prevailing opponent’s attorney fees and costs—bears no resemblance. An award of attorney fees for frivolous litigation conduct is not likely to be an insured loss. Nor, one would hope, are political subdivisions pressing so many frivolous RCRA citizen suits that this kind of fee exposure would present a repeated or

substantial threat to public funds. The Tort Claims Act has no express textual basis or underlying public policy to support answering the Certified Question in the affirmative.

Claiming otherwise, the County advances a pair of arguments that lead nowhere. First, the County emphasizes that the Tort Claims Act “contains no express waiver of immunity from claims for attorney’s fees.” (Br. at 14.) Here, the County gets the law backwards. In West Virginia,³ political subdivisions have no common law immunity to waive—any immunity they enjoy must instead be clearly granted by statute. *See Syl. Pt. 2, Marlin*, 198 W. Va. 635 (immunity does not exist “unless the legislature has clearly provided [it] under the circumstances”). Accordingly, the fact that the Tort Claims Act does not mention immunity from attorney fees awards does not favor the County’s position—it means that no such immunity exists.

Second, the County claims that the Tort Claims Act confers an immunity from “fees imposed by law,” which includes a blanket immunity from awards of attorney fees. (Br. at 15 (quoting W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(8)).) This argument misreads the Act. The statute provides that political subdivisions are “immune from liability if a **loss or claim results from . . . [a]ssessment or collection of . . . fees or charges imposed by law.**” W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(8). Political subdivisions are therefore immune from liability arising from the “assessment or collection” of fees or charges—like, for example, negligence claims in connection with the collection of municipal licensure fees. *See Standard Distributing, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 218 W. Va. 543 (2005). The County reads this to mean that political subdivisions are categorically immune from “fees or charges” themselves. A plain reading of the Act proves that

³ The County’s citation to Texas caselaw is therefore inapposite. (Br. at 12 (citing *Manbeck v. Austin Indep. Sch. Dist.*, 381 S.W.3d 528, 531 (Tex. 2012).) In Texas, political subdivisions enjoy common law immunity—so courts look to see if that immunity has been waived. *See Wasson Interests, Ltd. v. City of Jacksonville*, 489 S.W.3d 427, 429-430 (Tx. 2016) (“Political subdivisions of the state . . . share in the state’s inherent immunity.”). Again, the opposite is true in West Virginia.

is not true. The County’s interpretation would confer absolute immunity to political subdivisions and would swallow the statute’s other 16 subsections.

The Tort Claims Act does not grant political subdivisions immunity from attorney fee awards. This Court should answer the Certified Question in the negative for this reason, too.

C A RCRA citizen suit is not a “prosecutorial function.”

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